




AGENDA ITEM 3
Consent Agenda Items



 

1 
 

 
 

 

Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District 

Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday, January 25, 2021 

 

The Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy 

District conducted a regular meeting via Zoom video/teleconferencing on 

Monday, January 25, 2021 at 5:30 p.m.   

 

Board members present: Rosemary Carroll, Joellen Fonken, Rebie Hazard, 

Stacy McPhail, Julie Nania, Bill Nesbitt, John Perusek, Don Sabrowski, George 

Sibley, and Andy Spann.   

 

Others present: 

Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

Ashley Hom, US Forest Service 

Paul Jones, Wet Meadows Project 

Jesse Kruthaupt, Trout Unlimited 

Joe Lavorini, Gunnison County Stewardship Coordinator, National Forest  

Foundation 

Samuel Liebl, Gunnison Country Times 

John McClow, General Counsel 

Beverly Richards, Water Resource Specialist 

Bob Robbins, Concerned Citizen 

Jill Steele, Office Manager 

Sue Uerling, Administrative Assistant 

 

Board members not present: President Michelle Pierce 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

Vice President Stacy McPhail called the meeting to order at 5:32 p.m. 

   

2.      AGENDA APPROVAL 

 

Director Bill Nesbitt moved and Director George Sibley seconded approval 

of the agenda as circulated.  A roll call vote was conducted. Results of the 

roll call vote: 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 



 

2 
 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 

 

The motion carried 10 – 0. 

 

3. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS   

 

Director Joellen Fonken moved and Director Rebie Hazard seconded 

approval of the consent agenda. A roll call vote was conducted. Results of 

the roll call vote: 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 

 

The motion carried 10-0. 

 

Based on the submission of Jesse Kruthaupt’s contract invoice and 

explanation/photos of work completed, Director George Sibley commended 

Jesse on all of the work he is accomplishing. 

 

4. LEGAL AND LEGISLATIVE MATTERS 

 

A.  General Counsel John McClow briefly reviewed the Gunnison County 

Electric Association (GCEA) proposal for a Lease of Power Privilege (LOPP) to  

install a hydropower generation plant in the existing facility at Taylor Park 

Dam.  John commented that he feels it is fine if GCEA wants to build the 

facility and that the District has always supported this measure, but John 



 

3 
 

wants assurance of the following:  (1) Water for the facility must always be “run 

of the river” with releases controlled by the decrees; (2) GCEA cannot apply for 

a water right; and (3) GCEA cannot claim any benefits under the 1975 

Agreement.  As an action item, John would insist that GCEA sign an updated 

version of the agreement that was included in the Board packet with these 

conditions.  There was discussion that GCEA will create an LLC with 

Uncompahgre Valley Water Users (UVWUA) to build and operate the facility. 

Director Bill Nesbitt questioned whether or not this could create an issue with 

succession down the road.  John said he will be sure there is language 

protecting the District from any succession issues.  John also stated that there 

is language in the Lease of Power Privilege proposal that Uncompahgre may 

lease water to the GCEA, but John indicated that depending on whether the 

water being released is first or second-fill, it may not be Uncompahgre’s water 

being released. He is going to contact Uncompahgre to address this issue.  

John recommends that the District support the LOPP proposal subject to the 

conditions noted and that GCEA and Uncompahgre enter into an agreement 

with the District.  

 

Director Bill Nesbitt moved and Director John Perusek seconded the 

motion to approve that Manager Sonja Chavez be authorized to sign the 

agreement with GCEA and UVWUA allowing them to install a hydropower 

generation plan in the existing facilities at Taylor Park Dam with the 

conditions noted included in the revised agreement.  A roll call vote was 

conducted. Results of the roll call vote: 

 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 

 

The motion carried 10-0. 

 

B.  Legislative Matters – Dylan Roberts has moved to a different committee and 

Jeni Arndt will chair the House Agriculture, Livestock and Water Committee. 

She has supported water rights in the past.  The Colorado Legislature convened 



 

4 
 

for three days and will not come back into session again until February 16, 

2021.  Therefore, John will let the Legislative Committee know after that date 

when there are issues to discuss. 

 

5. GENERAL MANAGER AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

The Board received the January 2021 General Manager & Committee Reports 

in their packets. 

 

A.   Taylor Local User Group (TLUG) Appointments 

 

Manager Sonja Chavez briefly reviewed the TLUG operations and terms as 

outlined in the memo in the Board packets and requested action on the three 

positions requiring renewed appointments. 

 

Director Julie Nania moved and Director Rebie Hazard seconded 

appointments to the Taylor Local Users Group as follows: Roark Kiklevich, 

representing wade fisherman, Andy Spann, representing irrigation users 

along the Taylor and Gunnison Rivers and Pete Dunda, representing 

Taylor River property owners along the Taylor and Gunnison Rivers. A roll 

call vote was conducted. Results of the roll call vote: 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 

 

The motion carried 10-0. 

 

Vice President Stacy McPhail and General Manager Sonja Chavez thanked the 

TLUG representatives for their time and efforts. 

 

B.  Executive Committee  

 

Manager Sonja Chavez briefly reviewed the January 4 2021 meeting details as 

outlined in the memo included in the packet.  Vice President Stacy McPhail 



 

5 
 

stated that the Executive Committee is recommending approval of the 2021 

Salary Compensation Ranges to be used as an evaluation tool for keeping 

District compensation levels in-line with current market trends in the water 

industry. The compensation ranges will be reviewed on a tri-annual basis. 

 

Director Joellen Fonken moved and Director Rosemary Carroll seconded 

the motion to approve the 2021 Salary Compensation Ranges as 

recommended by the Executive Committee.  A roll call vote was 

conducted. Results of the roll call vote: 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 

 

The motion carried 10-0. 

 

General Manager Sonja Chavez also discussed performance reviews for the 

staff. Staff self-evaluations will now be a part of the performance review 

process.  These will be submitted to their supervisor(s) and will be the basis of 

their performance evaluation discussion with their supervisor.  Her goal is to 

have self-evaluations completed in June; all performance reviews completed in 

July; and, any salary adjustments and/or merit increases outlined in August 

so that these can be incorporated into the District’s draft budget in September.  

General Counsel John McClow will review the performance review processes to 

make sure they comply with employment law requirements. 

 

Sonja also reviewed the Executive Committee’s discussion about Drought 

Planning and her recommendation that the District work with local entities to 

implement a consistent message about drought education.  She would like to 

offer the Board and other interested entities/individuals an opportunity to 

learn more about “Fostering Sustainable Behavior” through community-based 

social marketing efforts as presented by Doug McKenzie-Mohr. There will be a 

conference call this week to discuss Doug’s training options.  Director Joellen 

Fonken expressed concern that the District should not just use social media to 

reach people as, with the pandemic, some people have stepped away from 



 

6 
 

social media and so the District should explore other ways to transmit the 

drought message.  Sonja clarified that a “social marketing” campaign uses all 

types of media and other methods to educate the public .  Sonja said that the 

Governor’s Phase 3 State Drought Response Program was enacted.  Although 

none of our municipal entities are covered entities, there needs to be ongoing 

discussion with all water users about responsible water use during drought, 

including municipalities.  Director Bill Nesbitt said he has talked to Mayor Jim 

Gelwicks about delaying turning on the City Ditch system and he wanted to 

correct Sonja’s memo to show that in 2013 turning on the ditches was delayed 

by 20 days, not 10, and that there was a savings of 945 acre-feet of water.  

Director Nesbitt wants the District to ensure that City participation in delaying 

turning on the ditch not be seen as an abandonment of their water right. 

 

C.  Grant Committee 

 

General Manager Sonja Chavez reviewed the two Grant Committee meetings 

since the last Board meeting and noted that the entire Grant packet has been 

reviewed and now includes templates and clear instructions, which should 

greatly facilitate application review and ranking and the District’s movement 

from award to contract. The guidelines are now consistent with the grant 

policy.  Director Bill Nesbitt questioned whether or not the term “farm” should 

be changed to “ranch” in the documents. 

 

Manager Sonja Chavez asked for the whole Board to weigh in on whether or not 

irrigation efficiency projects, such as pivot sprinkler systems, should be 

allowed for consideration under the program. She pointed out that taking 

action to fund such projects may affect irrigation return flows and groundwater 

levels and could have negative effects for neighboring and downstream water 

users. Vice President Stacy McPhail stated that there is a lifespan to such 

irrigation systems and that they require a lot of maintenance, so she was not 

comfortable with District funds being used for systems like this that may not 

be operational down the road.  Stacy also stated she was not in favor of 

supporting a project that just benefits one water user.  Director George Sibley 

agreed with this statement and Director Rebie Hazard feels the District would 

be taking on a lot of risk funding a center pivot. Director Don Sabrowski also 

said this can create a lot of negative effects for users downstream.  While 

Director Rosemary Carroll agrees with the consensus of the Board that 

additional studies are needed to determine the long-term effects of irrigation 

efficiencies, she feels that there are a lot of unknown factors and risks at this 

point but is concerned that not just one study is going to give us all of this data 

needed to determine the best outcomes. She said clarifying this is really 

important, and at present, there is a clear gap in knowledge about such effects.  



 

7 
 

Director Stacy McPhail expressed concerns about how many resources the 

District should be allocating for such studies. Director Andy Spann asked if we 

are just concerned about central pivot systems or other irrigation systems too?  

Director Bill Nesbitt is concerned that if we put too many stipulations on the 

applicant to convey the efficiency of their projects by asking them to spend 

money on engineering and studies, we may lose applicants.  There was also 

discussion about whether irrigation efficiency should be part of the Grant 

process or moved under Water Management Planning.  Director Julie Nania 

asked about how we will view efficiency for municipal projects as well.  Director 

George Sibley recommended that until we have clear data from studies about 

irrigation efficiency results, the District should just review each application and 

make decisions on a case by case basis . He suggested that the District learn 

by doing going forward. It was discussed that the District has a history of 

funding such projects in the past and that the District can get some helpful 

data from the results of demonstration projects previously funded, as well as 

from the work anticipated under the District’s engineering contract.  Because 

of the updates to the grant policy and procedures, the consensus of the Board 

was that if the grant applications show a multi-resource benefit; give the 

District new helpful data about water efficiency and that adjacent and 

downstream landowners are made aware of and support the application, then 

the District should move forward in accepting such grant applications, while 

continuing to explore resources/studies to provide up-to-date information 

about groundwater and surface water interactions. It was also clarified that 

priority would be given to “wet water” projects. Several Board members 

promoted the concept of having a “Informational Grant Training” to assist 

potential applicants with questions about the application and the viability of 

their projects.  General Manager Sonja Chavez indicated that staff is always 

available to help applicants throughout the process but cannot actually write 

an application for someone. Staff had discussed doing a grant informational 

webinar and upon hearing this input from the Board she will go forward with 

implementing. 

 

Sonja also announced that the USGS will be embarking on a 10-year Next 

Generation Water Observing System that can help provide needed data about 

groundwater and surface water interactions.    

 

There was also discussion about funding research and monitoring projects and 

projects where the applicant is funded by tax dollars (e.g., municipalities or 

federal government).  Sonja pointed out that the District has supported both 

research and monitoring projects in the past and that the results were 

beneficial to the District’s long term goals and objectives and needs.  Stacy 

reiterated that she would prefer that the majority of the District funding 



 

8 
 

support “wet water” projects.  Director Rosemary Carroll stated that the 

research and monitoring projects can be crucial for the district in a lot of ways 

and that the District may be at the mercy of types of applications received in a 

given year.   

 

With respect to applications submitted by tax-supported entities, there was a 

lot of discussion about whether or not the District should be funding projects 

like porta-potties. Director George Sibley pointed out that if there is pollution 

flowing into a stream or river due to the lack of a porta-potty, then the District 

would be remiss not to consider this.  General Manager Sonja Chavez pointed 

out that because the District requires a 50 percent match, it is not uncommon 

for applicants to have some of their matched funds coming from tax-supported 

entities like the Forest Service or BLM.  Director Julie Nania asked if the Board 

is suggesting a more specific policy about funding applicants that are 

supported or partially supported by tax dollars.  Sonja stated that for now, she 

would like to leave the policy as is and address such applications on a case by 

case basis and emphasized the amount of work we need to accomplish in our 

basin and how important those partnerships are to meeting our resource 

improvement goals.  Ashley Hom from the US Forest Service was on the Zoom 

conference and Director Bill Nesbitt asked her to weigh in on the subject.  

Ashley explained that because Congress had not previously allocated any 

funding for the Forest Service to address failing bathroom infrastructure, she 

was very grateful to be able to be able to seek and receive funding for such 

projects from the District.  She stated that it really was an emergency situation 

that was solved with the porta-potties and that she does not see the Forest 

Service asking for any additional porta-potty funding as this has been budgeted 

for by Congress for the next few years. 

 

General Counsel John McClow explained that since the recommendation from 

the Grant Committee was to approve the Grant Policy as presented, only a 

motion would be required, not a second.  

 

George Sibley moved for adoption of the January 25th, 2021, amended 

District Grant Policy. A roll call vote was conducted. Results of the roll 

call vote: 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 



 

9 
 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 

 

The motion carried 10-0 

 

General Manager Sonja Chavez indicated that staff conducted a comprehensive 

review of the grant program between 2015 and 2020. There were a number of 

District grant awarded projects that were either cancelled or never 

implemented.  Because of the time elapsed on some of those projects (e.g., 

2015-2018), the Grant Committee agreed that new applications should be re-

submitted and compete in a future grant funding cycle. Also, in some 

instances, a grant awarded project actually came in under budget so there 

were unused funds leftover from their grant. Therefore, there is currently a 

balance of $87,469.26 of funds that are unexpended, unclaimed, and available 

to be rolled into the 2021 and future grant cycles should such funds be 

needed, per Counsel John McClow. Director Bill Nesbitt asked how this money 

is designated in our accounts and whether this would raise any concerns with 

the auditor.  John explained that the money goes back into the general fund as 

unrestricted reserve funds and since these funds were already appropriated to 

grants but not expended, this makes the money available if needed for current 

and future grant funding.  John said there should be no issues with the 

auditor and that action taken by the Board on rolling forward these funds is 

documented via the resolution in their packet and via memo to the auditor.  

 

Director Bill Nesbitt moved and Director Julie Nania seconded the 

adoption of Resolution 2021-01 authorizing the use of $87,469.26 of 

previously allocated, unexpended, and now available District Grant Funds 

residing in the General Fund Reserve into the current 2021 District Grant 

funding cycle. A roll call vote was conducted. Results of the roll call vote: 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 



 

10 
 

 

The motion carried 10-0 

 

D.  Watershed Management Planning Committee 

 

Manager Sonja Chavez reviewed details of the January 11 and December 10 

WMP meetings and her Watershed & Stream Management Planning 

Memorandum dated January 19, 2021.  In item number 2 of that 

Memorandum, the District’s RFQ Ag Engineer process, WMP recommending 

that the Board authorize the General Manager to enter into an initial contract 

with Applegate Group in the amount of $100,000.   

 

Director George Sibley moved and Director Andy Spann seconded 

authorization of General Manager Sonja Chavez to enter into an initial 

contract with Applegate Group for engineering services not to exceed 

$100,000 in support of WMP efforts.  A roll call vote was conducted. 

Results of the roll call vote: 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 

 

The motion carried 10-0. 

 

E.  Education Committee 

 

General Manager Sonja Chavez summarized the results of the January 13th 

meeting and stated the 2021 outreach campaign will be highly focused on 

drought education.  Sonja said that Water Resource Specialist Bev Richards is 

looking for input from Board members on slogans and messages the District 

should include in its campaign, so please email Bev. Director Bill Nesbitt stated 

that the District distributed more of the “Water” books than in the past with 59 

going to the Crested Butte first graders and 89 to Gunnison first graders.  In 

addition, ten will be distributed in Lake City.  Sonja said the committee will 



 

11 
 

meet again soon and more details will be coming about the marketing 

campaign. 

 

F.  Water Quality and Water Surface Monitoring 

 

Sonja reported that the District oversees an annual water monitoring program 

in partnership with various entities.  She would like to gather a small 

committee to work on recommendations to be relayed to the USGS for the Next 

Generation Water Observing System (NGWOS) program.  Also, the USGS has 

indicated that there is a very good chance that they will fund the full cost of the 

new gages at Texas and Willow Creek, which will result in a $58,000 savings in 

the 2021 budget, and potentially $22,000 annual savings to the District for 

ongoing monitoring in future years. Since Cold Harbour Institute and Western 

Colorado University have decided to pull out as cooperating funding partners 

for monitoring purposes at the gage below Cochetopa, there may be funding 

within the District budget now that Texas and Willow Creek gages are covered.  

Finally, the USGS is partnering with the National Park Service to conduct a 

study on harmful algae blooms.  Toxic blooms occurred again this past 

summer at Blue Mesa Reservoir.  Study suspects drought conditions main 

culprit behind such harmful blooms, but they are also looking at temperature, 

nutrients or other factors.  She looks forward to seeing the results of this 

study.   

 

G.  Basin Water Supply Information  

 

Water Resource Specialist Bev Richards compiled her summary from a lot of 

different sources, including the Snowpack Summary, Aspinall Unit Forecast, 

Taylor Park Reservoir Operations and the Cloud Seeding Report. In a nutshell, 

everything is already very dry and probably going to stay that way. Bev 

reported that in a La Nina patterns often continue in back-to-back years with 

the second year being not quite as severe. 

 

H. Colorado Monthly Snowpack Summary 

 

The Upper Gunnison Basin is at 62 percent of normal and the whole state is at 

83 percent of normal. 

 

I.  Aspinall Unit Forecast for Operations 

 

Forecasted inflows and storage amounts in Blue Mesa are suspected to be well 

below average. 

 



 

12 
 

J.  Preliminary Operations Plan – Taylor Park Reservoir 

 

Taylor Park Reservoir is forecasted to only fill to 85% of full. 

 

K.  Cloud Seeding Report 

 

Even though the generators ran for 455 hours, there was not much moisture in 

the air to produce much precipitation. 

 

L.  Lake San Cristobal Report (LSC) 

 

Robert Hurd is under contract with the District for oversight and was able to 

troubleshoot problems with readings by replacing a modem from Century Link.  

In addition, Robert found that the gates were not performing well due to a 

moisture filter that needed replacing.  Robert found a source for the 

replacement filter. A couple of spare filters were also ordered for future annual 

replacement.  Currently, the lake stands at 8,993 feet and outflow is 14.3 c.f.s.   

 

Colorado Parks and Wildlife (CPW) facilitated a Zoom conference on January 25 

to discuss how to reduce the risk of motorized boaters introducing aquatic 

invasive species into LSC.  Ideally a decontamination station should be 

installed at LSC, but with infrastructure costs estimated at $50,000 or more, 

CPW does not have funding to get this started in 2021.  There was discussion 

about at least hiring a boat inspector for this summer and then sending 

anyone with contamination issues to Blue Mesa for decontamination. LSC 

Water Activity Enterprise Board members and stakeholders were invited to the 

Zoom conference. 

 

Director Joellen Fonken asked if the avalanches two years ago have had an 

effect on water quality at LSC.  Sonja is not aware of any water-quality 

monitoring and to her knowledge the BLM is not actively doing reclamation.  A 

stream warning system that could signal avalanche has been discussed, but no 

action has been taken yet. 

 

M.  Wet Meadows Project Update and Power Point  

 

Wet Meadows Project Coordinator Paul Jones gave a brief review of 2020 

accomplishments and reported that 99 structures were built, 65 acres of sage 

grouse habitat were restored, and a mile and a quarter of stream was 

improved. Paul said the State Land Board has donated rock and that a crew 

will be hired to install the rock July 15, 2021 through November 2021 

 



 

13 
 

In his Power Point, Paul reported that there are now over 30 partners involved 

which has increased significantly since the inception of the Wet Meadows 

project in 2009.  Paul explained how important wetland areas with adjacent 

sagebrush habitat are for recruitment and growth of sage grouse chicks.  

 

Paul reported that some challenges for the project include the amount of 

administrative time and costs involved in writing, accounting, and reporting for 

grant funding.  Paul said he is grateful to the District for taking on a larger 

chunk of the administrative requirements and that in future grants, he is 

seeking to get some of these administrative/indirect costs covered within the 

grant.   

 

Paul also reported that the lawsuit filed by The Center for Biological Diversity 

and Western Watersheds Project suing the Bureau of Land Management, 

Forest Service, National Park Service and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for 

failing to protect the Gunnison sage grouse from effects of livestock grazing.  

Paul pointed to the gross mis-use of the data, talked about why sage grouse 

numbers can vary greatly between very different hydrologic years (drought to 

high snowpack and back to drought) and said that this lawsuit, if successful, 

could have a have a huge impact on the Wet Meadows Project which could be 

required to conduct Section 7 Consultation on every single project (expensive,  

time consuming, would slow project implementation to a standstill, and 

negatively impact the bird due to inability to conduct projects that directly 

benefit).  Board members expressed frustration as it was their opinion that 

Western Water has a history of filing such suits for the sole purpose of 

removing grazing from public lands and making money off the litigation which 

frequently gets settled out of court.   

 

Vice President Stacy McPhail expressed her appreciation of Paul’s efforts.  

Director George Sibley said he sat in on part of the Wet Meadows meeting with 

the partners a couple of weeks ago and was very impressed with their level of 

cooperation and said that enthusiasm for the program and its results remain 

high. 

 

7. MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS 
 

Sustainable Tourism & Outdoor Recreation (STOR) Committee 

Appointment 

  

Manager Sonja Chavez said she was contacted by Gunnison County to see if 

the District would like to appoint a representative to serve on the STOR 

committee.  Former Manager Frank Kugel had served on the committee until 

https://www.gunnisoncounty.org/858/Sustainable-Tourism-Outdoor-Recreation-C
https://www.gunnisoncounty.org/858/Sustainable-Tourism-Outdoor-Recreation-C
https://www.gunnisoncounty.org/858/Sustainable-Tourism-Outdoor-Recreation-C
https://www.gunnisoncounty.org/858/Sustainable-Tourism-Outdoor-Recreation-C


 

14 
 

he resigned from the District and was not replaced at that time.  Sonja asked if 

there was a Board member willing to serve in that role, and if not, Bev Richards 

has offered to fill the appointment.  Sonja wanted the Board to understand that 

in this capacity, Bev would be voting on behalf of the District.  Director Joellen 

Fonken indicated she’s be happy to serve as the UGRWCD rep as she has 

served on the board for a number of years as the at-large rep.   

 

Director Andy Spann motioned and John Perusek seconded that Joellen 

Fonken serve as the District’s representative on the STOR Committee. A 

roll call vote was conducted. Results of the roll call vote: 

 

 

Rosemary Carroll  yes 

Joellen Fonken   yes 

Rebie Hazard   yes 

Stacy McPhail   yes 

Julie Nania    yes 

Bill Nesbitt    yes 

John Perusek   yes 

Don Sabrowski   yes 

George Sibley   yes 

Andy Spann   yes 

 

The motion carried 10-0. 

 

Sonja will let the County know of Joellen’s nomination. 

 

Colorado Water Congress 2021 Virtual Annual Convention, Feb 9th & 12th 

 

Manager Sonja Chavez referenced the convention program included in the 

packet and asked if any Board members would like to participate.  Vice 

President Stacy McPhail said she would like to attend.  Sonja said that if there 

were other Board members who have an interest, they should email 

Administrative Assistant Sue Uerling as soon as possible. 

 

Newspaper Articles 

 

Manager Sonja Chavez referenced the increased amount of District news 

coverage, including several articles reporting on Gunnison County’s 

appointment of Kathleen Curry to the Colorado River District Board.  Sonja 

said she called Kathleen right away and they discussed how best Sonja can 

communicate the District’s goals and issues to Kathleen.   



 

15 
 

 

There was also discussion around a Wall Street Journal article on water now 

being traded as a commodity on the stock market and James Eklund’s role 

with Water Asset Management (WAM) (former Director of the Colorado Water 

Conservation Board and now WAM attorney). A second article appeared in the 

Denver Post shortly after by Brian Richter (former TNC employee and now paid 

advisor to WAM) which called upon irrigators to stop irrigating in the name of 

providing water to lower basin users and municipalities.  Sonja said the Upper 

Gunnison District, the Colorado River District and Colorado Water 

Conservation Board will be watching this closely going forward.  General 

Counsel John McClow said while the Board’s comments are justified, the 

District needs to be careful about not overstating the case. 

  
 

8. CITIZEN COMMENTS 
 

Ashley Hom from the US Forest Service remarked that she is always very 

appreciative of funds from the District. She also said the Forest Service really 

wants to collaborate with the District on future water projects.  

 

 

9. FUTURE MEETINGS 
 

General Manager Sonja Chavez referenced the listing of upcoming meetings. 
 

10. SUMMARY OF MEETING ACTION ITEMS 

 

Manager Sonja Chavez will develop a virtual informational meeting for 

interested applicants of the Grant Program.  This will be held on Friday, 

February 5 at 1:00 p.m. The virtual meeting will be advertised in display ads 

and on the District website. 

 

Director Bill Nesbitt wanted to know when the District can hold Board 

meetings in person in the Conference Room.  Manager Sonja Chavez said due 

to the size of our Board, staff and any attendees from the general public, we 

cannot presently meet in person due to Covid-19 restrictions.  Director George 

Sibley said that for now, this is out of our hands.   

 

Director Julia Nania briefly reported that the Gunnison Basin Round Table. 

(GBRT) met on January 18 and heard a presentation from Harvey Economics, 

similar to the report Ed Harvey gave to the District back in November.  Julie 

reported that the GBRT will not be giving out many grants this year.  She said 

Bill Trampe will awarded for his service.  



 

16 
 

 

Ashley Hom of the US Forest Service announced that there is a new group, the 

Gunnison Valley Beaver Believers, which will focus on improving beaver habitat 

and bolstering their numbers.  She said the group will meet a couple of times a 

year and if anyone in the District is interested in joining, they can email her.  

(Sue Uerling has her email.)   

 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Vice President Stacy McPhail adjourned the regular board meeting at 8:18p.m. 

and reminded members that the Water Activity Enterprise Board meeting 

would immediately follow. 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

 

___________________________ 

George Sibley, Secretary 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

Stacy McPhail, Vice President 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 















































































AGENDA ITEM 4
Election of Board Secretary



 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:   UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM:  Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

DATE:  February 16, 2021  

SUBJECT:  Board Vacancy Process 

 

Background: On February 9th, 2021, the General Manager and Board President Pierce received a 

letter of resignation (effective immediately) from Director George Sibley citing reasons of health 

and age.  Director Sibley has served on the Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District 

Board for over 14 years.  We give our deepest appreciation to George and wish our dear friend and 

colleague all the best.  

 

Process for Filling the City of Gunnison Seat: This year we have one seat expiring in Division 

5.  That seat is currently held by Director Nania.  The District will also have to notice to fill the 

Division 8 seat previously held by Director Sibley which is one of three City of Gunnison seats on 

the Board Directors. The procedure for the appointment of board members to regular terms is 

described in Section 37-45-114(1)(a), C.R.S. (2018).  Our Bylaws require that we publicly notice 

vacancies: 

Not more than sixty days and not less than forty-five days prior to expiration of a Director's 

term, the District shall publish notice, once in a newspaper of general circulation within the 

District, that applications for appointment as Director will be accepted by the court until 

thirty days prior to expiration of the Director's term. The notice shall specify the address of 

the court to which resumes may be sent, and shall specify that the applicant must have 

resided within the District for a period of one year, and must reside in and be the owner of 

real property within the particular division for which the applicant seeks appointment.  The 

court shall fill, for the duration of the unexpired term, any vacancy which may occur on the 

board. 

The General Manager called the City of Gunnison Manager, Russ Forrest, to inform him of 

Director Sibley’s resignation and asked if the City wished to have the vacancy noticed immediately 

or if they would like to coordinate it with the District’s annul vacancy notice which begins on April 

8th this year. Mr. Forest informed Sonja that he spoke to Mayor Gelwicks and that they are fine 

with coordinating with our annual process. 

 

 



 

 

  

RESOLUTION 2021-02 

HONORING GEORGE SIBLEY FOR SERVICE 
 

      

WHEREAS, George Sibley has served on the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River Water 

Conservancy District from June 2006 to January 2021; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Sibley has dedicated a significant portion of his career to writing about water 

conservation, climate change and water management for a variety of publications, as well as in the 

booklet The Gunnison River Basin: A Handbook for Inhabitants and in his book, Water Wranglers, which 

was published in 2012 to commemorate the 75-year history of the Colorado River District; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Sibley has been a leader in public education and advocacy for water rights and 

protection through his advancement of Western Colorado University’s “Colorado Water Workshop” from 

2002-2008 and the “Headwaters Conference” at Western, now in its 32nd year; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Sibley has displayed a deep and continuing commitment to protecting the interests of 

the Upper Gunnison basin, serving as a valuable member of the District’s Education Committee, 

Executive Committee, Projects Committee, Watershed Management Planning Committee and as 

Secretary of the Board of Directors for over 12 years; and 
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Sibley is highly respected for his knowledge and involvement in local and statewide 

water programs, including his service on the Gunnison Basin Roundtable, most notably as Chair of the 

Education Committee; and  
 

WHEREAS, Mr. Sibley is respected for his commitment to and many years of valuable service to the 

water users and general population of the Upper Gunnison Basin earning him the honorary title of 

Gunnison’s own “Water Buffalo.”  
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the members of the Board of Directors of the Upper 

Gunnison River Water Conservancy District express their gratitude and appreciation for the many years of 

valuable service rendered by Mr. Sibley to the District and citizens of the Upper Gunnison basin; and, 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Secretary is hereby directed to provide the original of this 

resolution to Mr. Sibley in appreciation of his services and leadership. 
 

We, the undersigned officers of the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy 

District, do hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was duly adopted by a vote of the members 

present at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Directors on the 22nd of February 2021. 

 
 

       UPPER GUNNISON RIVER 

       WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

 
       

                                                  

       Michelle Pierce, President 

ATTEST: 

       

              

                   

____________________________ 

Secretary 



Resolution 2021 – 03 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am the duly elected and qualified Secretary of the Upper 

Gunnison River Water Conservancy District and the keeper of the records and seal of 

said District and the following is a true and correct copy of a resolution duly adopted at a 

regular meeting of the Board of Directors of said District held in accordance with the By-

Laws of said District on the 22nd day of February 2021. 

“Whereas, on July 12, 1993, the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River 

Water Conservancy District (The Board) designated Community Banks of Colorado – 

Gunnison, Community Banks of Colorado – Crested Butte, Gunnison Savings and Loan, 

Community First Banks (now Bank of the West), First National Bank of Lake City, now 

known as Community Banks of Colorado, and First National Banks of Colorado 

depositories of the District and that funds so deposited may be withdrawn upon a check, 

draft, note or order of the District; and  

“Whereas, on August 23, 2004, the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison 

River Water Conservancy District (The Board) designated Gunnison Bank and Trust a 

depository of the District and that funds so deposited may be withdrawn upon a check, 

draft, note or order of the District; and  

“Whereas, on May 22, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River 

Water Conservancy District (The Board) designated Colotrust a depository of the District 

and that funds so deposited may be withdrawn upon a check, draft, note or order of the 

District; and 

“Whereas, on January 26, 2009, the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison 

River Water Conservancy District (The Board) designated Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. a 

depository of the District and that funds so deposited may be withdrawn upon a check, 

draft, note or order of the District; and 

“Whereas, on May 18, 2009, the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison River 

Water Conservancy District (The Board) designated First National Bank of Paonia, 

Alpine Bank, Montrose Bank, First Southwest Bank, and First Colorado National Bank  

depositories of the District and that funds so deposited may be withdrawn upon a check, 

draft, note or order of the District; and 

“Whereas, on October 27, 2014, the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison 

River Water Conservancy District (The Board) designated NuVista Federal Credit Union 

of Gunnison, Colorado a depository of the District and that funds so deposited may be 

withdrawn upon a check, draft, note or order of the District; and  

“Whereas, on January 19, 2015, the Board of Directors of the Upper Gunnison 

River Water Conservancy District (The Board) designated Sigma Financial Corporation a 

depository of the District and that funds so deposited may be withdrawn upon a check, 

draft, note or order of the District; and  



 “Whereas, on July 12, 1993, the Board designated those persons authorized to 

sign and countersign checks, drafts, notes or orders for the payment of money in the same 

name of the District, and on subsequent dates has amended the list of designated persons; 

and 

 

 “Whereas, the Board desires to further amend the list of persons authorized to 

sign and countersign checks, drafts, notes or orders for the payment of money in the 

name of the District. 

 

 “Now, Therefore, Be It Resolved, that all the checks, drafts, notes, or orders 

drawn against the District’s accounts with said Bank be signed by any two of the 

following: 

 

  NAME    TITLE 

       

 Michelle Pierce   Board President 

 Stacy McPhail    Board Vice-President 

      Board Secretary 

 Bill Nesbitt    Board Treasurer 

 Sonja Chavez    General Manager 

 

whose signatures shall be duly certified to said Bank, and that no checks, drafts, notes or 

orders drawn against said Bank shall be valid unless so signed. 

 

 “Be It Further Resolved, that said Bank is hereby authorized to honor and pay any 

checks, drafts, notes or orders so drawn, whether such checks, drafts, notes or orders be 

payable to the order of any such person signing and/or countersigning said checks, drafts, 

notes or orders, or any of such persons in their individual capacities or not, and whether  

such checks, drafts, notes or orders are deposited to the individual credit of the person so 

signing and/or countersigning said checks, drafts, notes or orders, or to the individual 

credit of any other officers or not.  This resolution shall take effect February 22, 2021, 

and will continue in force until further written notification to said Bank. 

 

 In witness Whereof, the undersigned President and Secretary have caused 
the seal of said District to be hereto affixed this 22nd day of February, 2021. 

 

 

 

 

___________________________   ___________________________ 

          , Secretary                           Michelle Pierce, President 

 

 

 

 

 



AGENDA ITEM 5
Legal and Legislative Matters







AGENDA ITEM 6
Watershed and Forest Health



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 6 
Presentation by Kenneth Hurst Williams 

 



MEMORANDUM	
	

TO:	 	 UGRWCD	Board	Members	
	
FROM:	 Stacy	McPhail,	Watershed	Management	Planning	Committee	Chair	
	
DATE:		 February	11,	2021	
	
SUBJECT:	 Values	Framework	for	Forest	and	Watershed	Health	
	
Background:		The	Watershed	Management	Planning	Committee	discussed	a	framework	for	
staff	and	contractors	to	use	in	considering	grant	opportunities	that	include	forest	and	
watershed	health	components.	The	Committee	agreed	the	District’s	participation	in	all	
grant	opportunities	provide	direct	and	measurable	benefits.		
	
The	following	is	an	outline	of	key	values	and	examples	of	potential	risks	associated	with	
each	(based	on	UGRWCD	Mission	and	Value	Statements	2020):	
	
Value:				 	 Protection	of	existing	beneficial	uses	
Risk	examples:	 Transmountain	diversion,	buy/dry	transactions	

	 Water	and	land	use	planning	processes	(local,	state,	regional	US)	
	 Management	of	protected	species,	invasive	species	

	
Value:		 	 Economic	stability	(benefits	should	be	direct	and	measurable,		
	 	 	 balance	impacts)	
Risk	examples:	 Extended	drought		
	 	 	 Population	growth,	increase	in	visitor	numbers	
	
Value:		 	 Protection	of	water	quality	and	water	quantity		
Risk	examples:	 Ecosystem	services	impacts	from	wildfire,	flood,	erosion,	extended		
	 	 	 drought,	invasive	species	 	
	 	 	 Groundwater/surface	water	interactions	–	science	behind	these		
	 	 	 interactions	
	 	 	 Water	delivery	infrastructure	
	 	 	
	



AGENDA ITEM 7
Break



AGENDA ITEM 8
General Manager and Committee Reports



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8 
Treasurer’s Report 

 



MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:   UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM:  Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

DATE:  February 12, 2021  

SUBJECT:  General Manager’s Report 

 

I. Spencer Avenue Condo Association  

• Overnight parking of BLM vehicles not regularly used continues to be an issue mainly 

due to difficulties it creates around plowing the parking lot. 

• BLM use of non-pedestrian grass hill area to access their alley parking lot and recent fall 

of a BLM employee. 

• Repairs completed to building in 2020 include painting and staining. 

• Repairs planned for 2021 include second coat of stain, concrete area under porch repair 

and concrete pad lifting by electric box.   

• Other potential repairs include gutter leak and roof drainage which are affecting soffit 

area and creating an ice fall hazard and crack seal coating and restriping.  

 

II. Watershed Management Planning – Please see attached Memorandum. 

 

III. Grant Committee – Please see attached Memorandum. 

 

IV. Education Committee – Please see attached Memorandum. 

 

V. Basin Water Supply Information – Please see attached Memorandum. 

 

VI. Wet Meadows Project Update – Please see attached Memorandum. 

 

VII. Scientific Endeavors – Director Carroll. 

 

VIII. Crested Butte Land Trust Long Lake (a.k.a. Meridian Lake) Stakeholder Work Group – 

Director Carroll. 

 

 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

SUBJECT: 

UGRWCD Board Members  

Sonja Chavez, General Manager

 February 12, 2021 

Upper Gunnison District Board Committees 

I. Background: The District adopted policies related to the establishment, structure, and function of

various Board Committees.  Please take some time to review the Board Committees Policy

(Adopted July 25, 2016) attached.

II. Purpose, Function, and Importance of the Upper Gunnison District Board Committees

• Gather, analyze, and discuss information on various water resource issues of importance to the

District and report back to the full Board.

• Make recommendations for policy or action to the full Board.

• Provides a venue for staff to have more in-depth conversation and engagement with Directors

on various water resource topics of importance and obtain additional guidance from the full

Committee that can be taken back to the full Board.

• Assists the General Manager in managing staff commitment of time toward various activities

of the District.

III. Current Board Committee Assignments – Please see attached.

Discussion Item:  Does the Board have any recommended changes to the Committee

descriptions? 

IV. Recommendations for Action

A. Direct General Counsel to draft a Watershed Management Planning Committee description

for addition to the Board Committees policy document.

B. Amend the Administrative Issues Committee title to say “Water Administrative Issues

Committee” in order to accurately reflect the purpose of the committee.



1 
160627 Policy on Board Committees FINAL  

 

Board Committees 
 

Adopted at the July 25, 2016 Regular Board meeting 
 
The Board of Directors, by motion adopted by a majority of the entire board, 
may, from time-to-time, designate among its members such committees as the 
board deems desirable. Each committee consists of   not more than five board 
members plus designated staff with such power and authority, to the extent 
permitted by law, as may be provided in such motion. Committees shall serve 
at the pleasure of the board. Unless specifically delegated authority by the 
board, committees have no authority to take formal action on behalf of the 
District, but instead recommend actions and policies to the board for its 
consideration. (UGRWCD Bylaws, Article I, Section 6, Nov. 25, 2002).  With the 
exception of the Finance Committee, committee members select a chair for the 
committee. 
 
Committees are authorized to gather information, explore options and report 
to the full board. Committees shall report regularly to the board on their 
activities and progress, making recommendations to be considered for action 
at any regular or special meeting. In instances where action is authorized and 
taken by a committee, draft minutes of that meeting will be circulated to the 
full board with the next regular board meeting minutes. The Committee will 
approve such minutes at the first regular board meeting following the 
Committee meeting where action was taken. Approved Committee meeting 
minutes will be posted and available to the public in the same fashion as 
regular approved board minutes. 
 
Notice of all meetings of committees of the board shall be posted in the 
designated public place within the boundaries of the District no less than 
forty-eight hours prior to the holding of the meeting.  Notice of all meetings of 
committees of the board shall be given to the Board of Directors no less than 
forty-eight hours prior to the holding of the meeting. (UGRWCD Bylaws, Article 
II, Section 5, Nov. 25, 2002).  Any Director may attend committee meetings, 
but only appointed committee members may vote on recommendations of the 
committee.  Attendance at committee meetings by electronic means is 
governed by the board’s policy regarding electronic participation in board and 
committee meetings. 
 
Committees may call upon the District staff for assistance in compiling 
information, refining recommendations and presenting information to the full 
board.  Committees must inform the board when significant staff time will be 
needed to complete any requested task. The board will approve such 
expenditures, both in terms of staff time and financial resources, as it 
determines to be needed. 



 

2020-2021 board standing committees 

 
 

UPPER GUNNISON RIVER WATER CONSERVANCY 
DISTRICT 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES 

2020-2021 
Approved June 22, 2020 

 
 

Education Committee: Chair – Bill Nesbitt, George Sibley, Rosemary Carroll, Joellen Fonken, 
Stacy McPhail, Sonja Chavez, Beverly Richards 
 
Executive Committee:  Chair – Michelle Pierce – President; Stacy McPhail – Vice President;  
Bill Nesbitt – Treasurer; George Sibley – Secretary 
 
Finance Committee:  Chair - Bill Nesbitt, Rebie Hazard, Michelle Pierce, John Perusek, Sonja 
Chavez, Jill Steele  
   
Grant Committee: Rebie Hazard, Andy Spann, Rosemary Carroll, Julie Nania, Joellen Fonken, 
Sonja Chavez, Beverly Richards 
 
Legislative Committee: Chair – Michelle Pierce, Rebie Hazard, Julie Nania, Andy Spann, 
John McClow, Sonja Chavez 
 
Projects Committee: Bill Nesbitt, Rosemary Carroll, George Sibley, John Perusek, John 
McClow, Sonja Chavez, Beverly Richards 
 
Water Administration Committee:  Joellen Fonken, Rebie Hazard, Andy Spann, Michelle 
Pierce, John McClow, Sonja Chavez 
 
Watershed Management Planning Committee - Chair – Stacy McPhail, George Sibley, 
Andy Spann, Michelle Pierce, Julie Nania, John McClow, Sonja Chavez, Beverly Richards 
 
 
 
 

 
 



2 
160627 Policy on Board Committees FINAL  

 
Committees in need of professional services from the District’s contract 
engineers or from other outside consultants, shall request approval of the 
board for the purpose and cost of such assistance. 
 
Any Committee may meet in Executive Session pursuant to the criteria set 
forth by law. 
 
The board will reauthorize committees at its Annual Meeting each June. As of 
June 2016 Annual Meeting, the District has the following standing 
committees established for the purposes outlined below. 
 
Administrative Issues Committee 
The purpose of this committee is to assist the board and its constituents with 
issues related to the administration of water rights within the basin, as well as 
policy issues of the Division of Water Resources, Bureau of Reclamation and 
other entities involved with water administration that could impact the 
District or its constituents. 
 
Executive Committee 
This committee is made up of the officers of the board:  the President, Vice-
President, Treasurer and Secretary. The committee has been charged with 
the development of administrative policy, such as electronic 
communications and board-staff interaction. This committee handles 
reviews and salary recommendations of management level staff. 
 
Finance Committee 
This committee assists District staff with budget, audit, investment strategies, 
and other District financial issues and advises the board on those matters. 
The chair of this committee is the District Treasurer.  This committee may be 
utilized to investigate the formation of a Water Activity Enterprise.  
 
Legislative Committee 
This committee is responsible for reviewing and tracking proposed legislation. 
The committee recommends to the board positions on legislation. The 
committee is authorized to take a position on legislative matters that cannot 
be brought to the board in a timely manner. This authorization must be 
renewed annually. 
 
Project Committee 
 

This committee is responsible for reviewing and evaluating the feasibility of 
potential projects determined by the board to have potential for 
accomplishing the District’s goals and making recommendations to the full 
board regarding those projects. 



3 
160627 Policy on Board Committees FINAL  

The Committee’s primary goal should be to identify, evaluate feasibility, and 
implement projects that protect or enhance private and public water ways and 
uses in the Upper Gunnison Basin. (Mission statement approved July 19, 
2019). 
 

Education Committee 
This committee is responsible for gathering information and exploring 
options to accomplish the District’s goal of pursuing education of and input 
from constituents within the District on the value of basin water resources, 
including development of an outreach program promoting the District and 
its activities, and directing the Action Items associated with 2016 Goal 7. 
 

Grant Committee 
This committee is responsible for reviewing applications for funding under 
the District’s Grant Program, consistent with board grant policies, and for 
making recommendations regarding approval of applications to the full 
board. 
 
 



MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:   UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM:  Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

DATE:  February 12, 2021  

SUBJECT:  Watershed Management Planning Update 

 

I. Watershed Management Planning 

 

Background: Since 2017, the District has been conducting comprehensive and community driven 

watershed and stream management planning within the Upper Gunnison basin.  The purpose is to 

protect and improve existing and future water uses within the basin.  

 

Update: The Phase I preliminary needs assessment was completed for the Ohio, East, and Lake 

Fork sub-basins. Activities in 2021 include development of Action Plans which identify potential 

options or best management practices to address resource concerns. These will not be full pre-

feasibility assessments of options but rather identified starting points for continued evaluation. Staff 

is continuing discussions with various stakeholders on some of the high priority projects/needs 

identified in Phase 1 (e.g. Potential impacts to the East River associated with snowmaking or 

municipal pumping and Ohio Creek need for comprehensive irrigation infrastructure and 

optimization assessments). 

 

The Phase 2 needs assessment began in earnest in 2020 for the following basins: Taylor, Gunnison 

Mainstem, Cebolla, and Tomichi/Cochetopa.   

 

To date we have completed the following activities: 

 

A. Preliminary data has been gathered and maps have been created to help facilitate outreach.  

Further refinement will take place over the next couple of months. 

B. Recreational Assessments: Needs assessment for the Taylor and Gunnison Rivers and 

development of a draft Boatable Days Tool have been completed.  The Tool can help 

inform our water user community about potential economic impacts to our recreational 

community and economy as a result of drought and climate change. Final report under 

committee review, user tool instructions under development, and continued verification of 

the tool with key stakeholders will take place over the next 6-8 weeks. This information 

will help inform and refine our future stakeholder outreach efforts and inform future actions 

to support recreational uses within the basin. 

C. Angling Assessment: The final report has been drafted, comments will be incorporated from 

the watershed planning team, and final public outreach will occur over the next 6-8 weeks.  

As a side note, TU and CTU will also be assisting the CPW with creel surveys this spring 

and summer through their independent organizations. This information will help further 

inform public outreach and the development of recommended actions to support a healthy 

fishery. 



D. Municipal Assessments: Underway through Wilson Water Group (WWG). Initial 

interviews have been conducted, data is being reviewed, and next steps will get underway 

with municipalities next month.  The General Manager will also work to establish a 

Municipal work-group to help facilitate conversations around smart  growth that 

incorporate thoughtful planning around water use, municipal infrastructure needs, etc. 

E. A UGRWCD Watershed and Forest Health Sub-Group: Being established by the District 

and will focus on identification of potential activities that support our District mission and 

values and mitigate potential risk to those watershed values. WMP Chair, Director Stacy 

McPhail, will lead the Board in this initial watershed values exercise at our February 22nd 

meeting. 

In addition, the District (with significant leadership and support from Trout Unlimited) was 

successful in securing a $180,000 grant from the CWCB Watershed Restoration Program 

to support an Upper Gunnison Water, Forest and Range Resiliency Project.  The District 

leveraged already budgeted UGRWCD 2021 funds for related studies and projects as match 

to the project.  In this case, the Texas and Willow Creek stream gauges - $58,000; Non-

Point Source Watershed Planning Grant - $24,000; UGRWCD – NCAR contract for Taylor 

River Watershed Modeling $35,000; UGRWCD – USGS Joint Funding Agreement for 

Monitoring Surface Water and Water Quality) to help make this grant application possible. 

The goal of the UGRWCD is to leverage grant funds with existing investments already 

being made by the District and our grant project partners to maximize project scope and 

therefore maximize environmental benefit.  Our ability to be nimble when these 

opportunities present themselves is important.  This project supports our efforts to recover 

the threatened Gunnison sage grouse, supports our agricultural producers, will potentially 

restore stream habitat for native cutthroat, and begins critical assessments of forest fire 

hazard zones of concern within the basin. 

Below is a comprehensive summary of the activities included in the grant: 

• Basinwide watershed forest fire hazard assessment of zones of concern 

• Tomichi Sub-basin: Restore 8.5 miles of stream and riparian habitat, protect 10 

miles stream from non-native trout, protect 10 acres of mesic meadow, and 

improve grazing management in sage brush range 

• Taylor Sub-basin: Support wildfire hazard assessment by modeling potential 

effects from disturbance such as disease and fire.    

 

F. Agricultural Assessments: Communication with our ranching community and field 

assessments are on-going. Field data sheets and photo documentation are being collected 

from all site visits and will be used to inform both agricultural and environmental needs 

assessments and mapping of resource concerns. 

G. An Agricultural Engineer has been selected and work is underway to complete contracting 

and scope of work development. 

H. Taylor Sub-basin Watershed Management Planning Phase 2 Report which summarizes 

preliminary available data, maps, and hydrologic assessment work are underway.  

Information from stakeholder outreach efforts this summer will be incorporated and further 

inform the watershed needs assessments. 

I. A draft timeline of activities in 2021 is attached as Exhibit A (subject to change). 

 



II. Outcalt No.2 and Gunnison Tomichi Valley Association Ditch: Single Point of Diversion 

 

Background: At the August 24th, 2020, Regular Meeting, the Board authorized the General 

Manager to transfer $36,960 the Outcalt No. 2 and Gunnison Tomichi Valley Association Ditch 

“Single Point of Diversion” project and to enter into a sole source contract for engineering 

services. 

 

Work Order No.1 ($15,000): Applegate Group (Craig Ullman, P.E.) worked with the water right 

holders to conduct an engineering evaluation of the proposed project. A one-dimensional (1D) 

model was developed to support hydrologic analysis, construction specifications and design, and 

preliminary project cost estimate.   

 

Work Order No. 2 (Budget and SOW Amendment No. 1 - $12,700): The above 1D model and 

ensuing discussions with the water right holders lead to additional and more complicated design 

questions and the need to move to a 2D model to further evaluate options for the wing inlet and 

the river return/spillway structure that could manage both low and high flows, return water back 

to the river, facilitate trash removal, address icing issues, etc.  Two additional engineering 

iterations were needed including an additional upstream survey.  Work Order No. 2 also includes 

funding for final designs, construction specifications, final cost estimate, and construction 

inspections. 

 

The final construction cost will be higher than initially anticipated but both the water right 

holders, engineers, and staff are confident in a successful outcome that will protect both the 

District and landowner investment, downstream landowners, and ensure that all water resource 

benefits come to fruition. The General Manager has agreed to assist the project proponents with a 

request for additional funding support from the Colorado River District 7A Partnership Program. 

This will be our first District supported 7A Partnership Project.  Another District supported 7A 

funding package request for multiple water resource improvement projects will follow in April. 

More information will be provided to the Board at next month’s meeting. 

 

Estimated Engineering Expenditures Work Order No. 1 & 2 = $27,700 

Estimated WMP Fund Balance for Construction = $9,260 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

2021 WMP Activity Timeline

Jan Feb March Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

Phase 1 - Ohio Creek Action Plan X X X

Phase 1 - East River Action Plan X X X X

Phase 1 - Lake Fork Action Plan X X X

Phase 2 - Agricultural Outreach

Ongoing Infrastructure Assessments X X X X X X X X

Contracting w/Ag Engineer X X

System Optimization Assessment Ohio X X X X X X X X X X

System Optimization Assessment Tomichi X X X X X X

System Optimization Assessment East X X X X X

UGRWCD Stakeholder Outreach X X X X X X X X X X

Phase 2 - Recreation & Angling

Finalize Recreation Whitewater Report & Tool X X X X

Finalize Angling Report X X X X

CTU/TU/CPW Creel Surveys X X X X

Public Outreach X X X X X X X X X X

Phase 2 - Environmental

Release RFQ & Select Environmental Consultant X X

Environmental Assessments Riparian X X X X X X X

Watershed & Forest Health Sub-Group Worksessions X X X X

Water-quality Data Summary X X X X

Phase 2 - Municipal & Industrial

Initial Outreach WWG X X X

Water Supply Summary WWG X X X X X X

Water Supply/Growth X X X X X X X X

Land Use Code Update (Watersmart Team) X X X X X X X X

Municipal Sub-Group X X X X X X X X

2021

Exhibit A 



1 
210208 Summary WMP Committee_final 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
TO:   UGRWCD Board Members 
 
FROM:  Watershed Management Planning Committee 
 
DATE:  February 8, 2021 
 
SUBJECT:  Watershed Management Planning Committee Meeting   
   Summary 

 
A meeting of the committee was held on February 8, 2021 at 1:00 p.m. 
 
Stacy McPhail, Julie Nania, Jesse Kruthaupt, Dan Omasta, Kestrel Kunz, Sam 
Liebl (GCT), Bella Biondina (GCT), Erin Wilson, Sonja Chavez, Jill Steele, and 
Beverly Richards were in attendance. George Sibley, Andy Spann, Michelle 
Pierce were absent. 
 
Agenda topics included updates about contract status, Phase I and II sub-
basins updates, recreation and angling report status, demonstration of the 
Boatable Days Tool, Environmental RFQ status, Forestry and Watershed 
Health issues, and Agricultural Engineering contract.  As a result of these 
discussions the following actions and discussion items were identified: 
 
Action Items 
 

• Committee will provide input on Boatable Days Report and Web Tool to 
Kestrel Kunz by February 15th. 

• Kestrel Kunz will continue to make suggested changes to the Web Tool.  
These suggestions came out of the Coordinators Work Group meeting 
held on February 5th. 

• Dan Omasta and Kestrel Kunz will share the Web Tool with key members 
of the recreation community to gain additional input.  This will be done 
once changes have been made to the Tool. 

• Wilson Water Group will compile relevant data for the agricultural 
engineering firm (Applegate) for the system optimization review. 

• Sonja Chavez and Jesse Kruthaupt will meet with Craig Ullmann with 
Applegate to develop the first task order under Applegate’s contract. 

• The timeline for the system optimization review will be: February and 
March – compilation and review of available data; April and May- begin 
Ohio Creek basin field site visits. 

• The Environmental RFQ will be completed later in 2021 as work begins 
on system optimization and forest and watershed health. 

• Stacy McPhail and Julie Nania will continue discussion on the values 
and risks document developed for forest and watershed health.  
Following the discussion, staff will provide the edited document to the 



2 
210208 Summary WMP Committee_final 

full Board for review at the February board meeting.  Staff will also meet 
with Dan Omasta to discuss next steps. 

• Dan Omasta will work with FS and BLM partners to prepare a map for 
review of the projects proposed from the range management meeting. 
This will support evaluation of how the UGRWCD Watershed Restoration 
Grant can leverage efforts of our federal agencies, TU, and the Wet 
Meadows Program consistent with the grant application. 
 

 
Next Meeting 
 
Watershed Management Planning Committee – March 8, 2021 – 1:30 p.m. 
 
Coordinator Bi-weekly Check-In Meeting – TBD 
 
All meetings will be held via Zoom teleconferencing until further notice. 
 
Adjournment 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 2:47 p.m. 



MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:   UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM:  Bev Richards, Water Resource Specialist 

DATE:  February 16, 2021  

SUBJECT:  Grant Committee 

 

A virtual grant program informational meeting was held at 1 PM February 5, 2021 via Zoom. It 
was advertised in the newspapers in Gunnison, Crested Butte and Lake City, as well as posted 
several times on the District’s social media accounts and on the District website.  Eight potential 
grant applicants tuned in for the meeting. 
 
A power point was presented outlining:  (1) Background of Grant Program; (2) Project Types for 
Consideration; (3) Policy Governing the Grant Program (where 2021 changes were highlighted); 
(4) Timeline for Funding Agreements; (5) Timeline for Disbursement of Funds: (6) Eligibility 
Criteria; (7) Evaluation and Ranking Process; (8) Review of the Grant Application Form; (9) 
Review of the 2021 Grant Program Templates; (10) Review of the Budget Table Template; (11) 
Review of the Match Summary Table; and (12) the Timeline for the 2021 Grant Program. 
 
Questions from the audience were taken and Sonja offered that a PDF of the full grant packet is 
available on the District website and that the District can email the Excel versions of the Budget 
Table and Match Summary Table and the Word version of the Scope of Work sheet. 
 
Several of the audience expressed their appreciation for the meeting, saying it was very helpful for 
them to have the detail explained and be able to ask questions.  Sonja encouraged potential 
applicants to call the District for further assistance or questions. 
 

 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

SUBJECT: 

UGRWCD Board Members  

Sonja Chavez, General Manager

 February 12, 2021 

Education Committee Update 

Background: The Education Committee “is responsible for gathering information and exploring 

options to accomplish the District’s goals of pursuing education of and input from constituents 

within the District on the value of basin water resources, including the development of an outreach 

program promoting the District and its activities, and directing the Action Items associated with 

2016 Goal 7.” Committees may call upon the District staff for assistance in compiling information, 

refining recommendations, and presenting information to the full Board. 

Update: No meeting of the Education Committee was held during the month of February. Exhibit 

A represents the current Education Action Plan for 2021. 

Staff have continued to work on education related activities including: 

• AV Upgrade: Our Board Conference Room audio and visual upgrade has been completed

and we have been very happy thus far with the upgrades, products, performance, and

training.

• Website: Staff will be working with our original website designer to implement changes to

the website framework and navigation and obtain training in the use of the Elementor

software platform.  The goals of this effort are to create a framework that is consistent,

clean, and easy for our staff to operate and maintain.

• Drought Outreach Campaign Slogan Contest:

The Drought Outreach Slogan Campaign will end on February 15th.  To date we have

received several good candidates for the slogan and will be deciding with the committee’s

help in the coming weeks.  This slogan will be used on yard signs, stickers, information

cards, radio and newspaper ads, etc. to distribute withing the community to get the word

out about the significance of our current drought conditions.

• Participation in Gunnison WaterSMART Meeting: Sonja and Beverly participated in the

Gunnison WaterSMART meeting on February 1st. We had a very fruitful discussion with

some of the participating municipalities about opportunities for partnership and outreach.

o Opportunities for Advertising our Community Water Ethic: Work with STOR,

Tourism Association, Gunnison Magazine, Crested Butte Magazine, etc. Work

with landscape company to create a portfolio of what beautiful and water smart

landscaping looks like.



 

 

o  Opportunities for addressing outdoor lawn irrigation water use: Community 

outreach (year-round residents) and working with second homeowner property 

managers. 

o Water and Sanitation: Work with water and sanitation districts to provide outreach 

about possible methods that can be used to address drought conditions with 

conservation. 

• Instagram and other social media: Director Fonken graciously shared her expertise and 

thoughts with staff on the use of Instagram in our education and outreach and conducted a 

little training with us as well.  Regular updates have been posted on Facebook, Twitter and 

Instagram about the District’s grant program and slogan contest. 



 

 

 

UG 2021 Budget = $34,000

EDUCATIONAL FOCUS AREA UPPER GUNNISON ($) Outside Funding COMMITTEE LEAD

# Individuals 

Reached

Annual On-Going

Advertising (Radio) 4,000$                                       Team 500

Advertising (Newsprint) Bev

CB News 1,100$                                       Sue 500

GC Times 1,180$                                       Sue 1500

GCT Ad - 4H Ag Winners 160$                                           

Silver World 960$                                           Sue 100

Gunnison River Festival (June 12-13, or 26-27) 7,500$                                       Joellen, Sonja, Jill 1500

Mini-Grants 2,000$                                       Bev 200

Social Marketing Campaign 5,000$                                        Team 5000

Mayors & Managers Sonja 30

Subtotal: 21,900$                                     -$                              

General Public Outreach

Collaboration w/Water Groups in Upper Gunnison 500$                                           Bev 50

Website Framework Update (added 2-12-21) 3,000$                                       Bev/Sue

River Clean Up Program (Post River Festival?) - New Idea 1,500$                                       Team

Subtotal: 5,000$                                       

Elementary (K-5)

Swimming Classes 750$                                           Bill 50

Water Book - GES 1st Grade (Move to Annual?) 1,020$                                       Bill 100

Summer Experience - New Idea 500$                                           Sue 30

Subtotal: 3,770$                                       

Middle School (6-8) - New Ideas

Eureka Science Center Tours 1,000$                                       Sue 100

Taylor Challenge (August?: Always has a water 

component, incorporate educational piece) 250$                                           Sue/Bev 100

Subtotal: 1,250$                                       

High School (9-12) - New Ideas

Water Smart Program - Kristal Brown (Env. Science) 250$                                           Sue 20

Storymap Program - Matt Smith  $                                           250 Sue 20

Science Water Class  $                                           250 Sue 60

Subtotal: 750$                                           

Other Sponsorships

Cattlemen's Days Sponsorship at 4H Luncheon 500$                                            Sue/Sonja 500

4H Sponsorship - Environmental Focus (New Idea) 250$                                           Sue/Stacy 20

Subtotal: 750$                                            

GRAND TOTAL: 33,420$                                      10,380

Balance Remaining (Manager's Discretion): 580.00$                                     

2021 Education Action Plan
Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District

v. 01-25-21 (Subject to Change)

Exhibit A. 



MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: UGRWCD Board Members 
 
FROM: Beverly Richards, Water Resource Specialist 

 
DATE: February 9, 2021 

 
SUBJECT: Basin Water Supply Information 
 

The information supplied as part of this memorandum will be a monthly feature and will include 
information about drought conditions in the basin, snowpack information from NRCS, Aspinall unit 
operations from the Bureau of Reclamation, Taylor Park Reservoir Storage information, and the Upper 
Gunnison Cloudseeding Program.  This information will be increasingly important as drought conditions 
persist or worsen in 2021.   
 
Drought Conditions: 
 
As of February 9, 2021, 71% of Colorado is in extreme (D3) and 25% in Exceptional (D4) drought 
conditions.  This is reflected in the drought monitor map for Gunnison County.   According to the U.S. 
Drought Monitor at drought.gov, 99% of Gunnison County is still in D3 conditions and these conditions 
have been in place since May 2020.  Hinsdale County is 100% in D3 conditions, but Saguache County has 
improved as they are only 22% in extreme conditions and 51% in severe drought conditions. The current 
conditions map shows that drought persists in 46% of the entire country, ranging from moderate to 
exceptional drought conditions. 

 
 
 
As far as the Intermountain West is concerned, most of the area has experienced low snow water 
equivalent (SWE) for this winter thus far.  The upper Colorado River basin catchments are currently at 
74% of the average (NRCS 1981-2010).  Despite recent precipitation, exceptional to extreme drought 
persists over the entire area: 94% of the entire state of Arizona, 71% for Colorado, 82% for New Mexico, 
90% for Utah, 26% of Wyoming.   

 



 
Drought Condition in Intermountain West Region 

Snowpack Information: 

According to the NRCS news release dated February 5, 2021, recent precipitation has brought the 
snowpack back up to 79% of normal for the entire Gunnison Basin, and to 77% of normal for the Upper 
Gunnison Basin.  The entire state of Colorado is currently at 77% of normal so the entire state is continuing 
to experience these dry conditions.  However, there are still two months left in the normal snow 
accumulation season, so there could potentially be changes to these numbers. 

Reservoir storage in the Gunnison Basin is at 80% of average for the year.  The reservoirs in the Upper 
Gunnison Basin, Taylor and Blue Mesa, are at 61% and 48% respectively.  As a result of the dry conditions 
streamflow will likely remain low and reservoirs will see little recharge in the coming runoff season. 

Aspinall Unit Forecast for Operations: 

The Bureau of Reclamation provided us with the forecast for operations for the Aspinall Unit as of 
February 5, 2021.  The report includes information about snowpack in the Upper Gunnison Basin, 
forecasted inflows and storage amounts in Blue Mesa Reservoir, and projected spring operations.  This 
information reiterates the information by other sources within the state, that things are dry and likely to 
remain dry through the Spring. 

• Upper Gunnison Basin Snowpack: 77% 
• Blue Mesa Forecasted Inflows: 470,000 AF 
• Blue Mesa Current Conditions: 401,000 AF Content 
• Projected Blue Mesa maximum fill: 576,000 AF Content 



Taylor Park Reservoir Storage: 

The Bureau of Reclamation provided us with the Taylor Park Reservoir update report.  The proposed 
operations plan uses the February 1, 2021 forecast.  The forecast center is forecasting 72,000 acre-feet of 
runoff flowing into the reservoir which is 73% of average.  This forecast would indicate that the year type 
is at the Dry Year category and could result in the reservoir only filling to 90,600 acre-feet which is 85% 
full.  These forecasts will be closely monitored by the Taylor Local Uses Group as well as the Bureau of 
Reclamation and other water users downstream.  The first 2021 Taylor Local Users Group meeting will be 
held on March 10, 2021 at 10 a.m. 

Cloudseeding Report (North American Weather Consultants): 

This report provides information about activities conducted by NAWC for January 2021.  The highlights of 
the report are that there was a total of 248.75 hours of generator hours used in January for a total of 659.50 
hours used to cloudseed in the Upper Basin this year.  This resulted in a snow water equivalent 
accumulation ranging from .1 inches to .9 inches during the seeding events.  Even though this has been the 
case, SWE in the Gunnison Basin remains below normal, with a basin-wide (upper and lower) average of 
77% of normal and a precipitation average of 65% of normal.   

On February 3, 2021, NAWC advised us they would be suspending seeding operations in the West Elks 
Range due to the increased avalanche danger in this area.  The map below shows the area (highlighted in 
red) where this suspension occurred.  NAWC said as a result we will likely not use the entire amount of 
generator hours originally budgeted. 

 
Upper Gunnison Target Area (NAWC) 

 

 

Think Snow! 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8 
Scientific Endeavors Report 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8 
Long Lake Stakeholder Work Group Update 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8 
Gunnison River Festival Update 

 



AGENDA ITEM 9
Demand Management Framework Discussion



MEMORANDUM 

TO: UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM: Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

DATE: February 16, 2021 

SUBJECT: Upper Gunnison District: Statement of Understanding of Demand 

Management 

Background: Over the past twenty years, the Colorado River Basin has experienced on-going 

and persistent drought which has led to great uncertainty regarding our Colorado River Basin 

Water Supply.  In addition, water storage levels in Lake Powell (Upper Colorado River Basin 

States “Storage Bucket” for Colorado River Compact Compliance) and Lake Mead continue to 

fall and are currently predicted to only reach 36% of full capacity in 2021.  In 2019, the Colorado 

River Basin States and the United States, acting through Reclamation, agreed to developed 

Drought Contingency Plans (DCP) for each basin.   

The Upper Basin DCP has two principal elements: 1) Reoperation of Upper Basin Reservoirs, 

and 2) Investigation of a potential Demand Management Program.   

The Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB), Colorado River District, and the Upper 

Gunnison District have initiated investigations related to a potential voluntary, temporary, and 

compensated reduction in consumptive use. 

Summary of Studies Completed: 

• CWCB Phase 1 Investigation: Identified and analyzed key threshold issues associated

with Demand Management through the formation of Technical Work Groups.

• CWCB Phase 2 Investigation: Support the determination of whether Demand

Management is feasible from Colorado’s perspective (i.e. Achievable? Worthwhile?

Advisable?) (See attached)
• Colorado River District Investigations: Colorado River Compact Compliance Risk

Studies (Phase 1-3B); Water Banking Feasibility; and Secondary Economic Impacts

of Demand Management.

• Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District: Economic Impacts of Irrigation

Water Curtailment Scenarios for the Upper Gunnison Basin (Harvey Economics).

Issue: To date, there is no formal statement from the Upper Gunnison District Board that 

represents our local concerns, questions, or preferences from our irrigators and water resource 

managers regarding Demand Management.  A statement will be important to facilitate on-going 

discussions and priorities established by the Board, to include in our Watershed Management 

Plan (under development), and to provide to our constituents.   



In 2018, Director Nania and Jesse Kruthaupt (Agricultural Coordinator for the WMP) created a 

document they entitled, Local Concerns, Questions and Preferences from Irrigators and Water 

Resource Managers regarding Demand Management and Alternative Transfer Mechanisms (See 

Attached).  This document was never published or brought before the Upper Gunnison Board.  

This document along with the information we’ve gleaned from the Harvey Economic study 

could create the foundation for such an Upper Gunnison District Statement of Understanding of 

Demand Management.  Please see attached.

Recommendation for Board Action: Direct the General Manager and General Counsel to 

develop an Upper Gunnison District Statement of Understanding on Demand Management. 



CWCB Press Release 

Demand Management Concepts Floated, Colorado Moves Forward with Investigation 

Thursday, January 28, 2021 

During the Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB) Meeting on January 25, an update on 

the current and ongoing Demand Management Feasibility Investigation was presented, including 

reiteration of the state’s guiding principles and the first steps of potential framework concepts for 

what a program could look like. 

“The Demand Management Investigation remains an open, collaborative process, as we continue 

conversations with the Interbasin Compact Committee, Tribal Nations, non-governmental 

organizations, and stakeholders across the state,” said CWCB Director Rebecca Mitchell. “The 

big question is, can we design a program that creates a net benefit for Colorado and protects 

Colorado water users?” 

The Step II Work Plan, which was approved in November 2020, aims to use information 

developed throughout the course of work done pursuant to the previous 2019 Work Plan to 

analyze whether a Demand Management program would be achievable, worthwhile, and 

advisable for Colorado as a whole. 

The guiding principles articulated at the Board meeting include: Demand Management is not a 

foregone conclusion; The framework is not a program, but a point for discussion; Issues are 

explored in an open and collaborative manner including engagement with Tribal Nations; and a 

program would be run by the state for the benefit of the whole state and its water users. 

As part of the Step II Work Plan, CWCB will develop strawman concepts based on a matrix of 

elements, which were identified by each of the eight workgroups last year.  

At the Board meeting, staff presented on elements for Monitoring & Verification, Education & 

Outreach, and Environmental Considerations areas. These were presented as examples, as staff 

develops content relating to the other subject areas. 

While no large-scale pilot programs will be implemented at this time, CWCB will soon begin 

looking at opportunities to use existing programs and funding sources to conduct smaller-scale 

demonstration projects that might help with on-the-ground learning. CWCB will also work to 

incorporate existing and ongoing projects and information into the framework. 

A CWCB workshop will be scheduled in the near future to provide the next update on the 

feasibility analysis. Stay tuned for the date and time of this virtual event, which will be added to 

the CWCB Calendar. 



 

 

FROM: Julie Nania, East River Watershed Coordinator  

Jesse Kruthaupt, Ohio Creek Watershed Coordinator 

RE: Local Concerns, Questions and Preferences from Irrigators and Water Resource 

Managers regarding Demand Management and Alternative Transfer Mechanisms 

DATE: November 10, 2018 

 

I. Purpose and Overview  

The purpose of this memo is to share concerns from the Upper Gunnison Basin regarding 

demand management proposals and alternative water transfer mechanisms.1 It is intended 

to inform policy discussion when contemplating a demand management program or 

flexible water use arrangements to be implemented on the Western Slope.  

2018 has been a water short year in the Upper Gunnison Basin; this summer several rivers 

reached all-time low flow levels here. Across the West drought has inspired bold 

conversations about demand management and potential methods to create the water 

necessary to meet Colorado’s delivery obligation to the lower basin states. Locally, 

stakeholders have been talking about demand management as a means to create conserved 

water for Colorado River Compact compliance and also as a means of potentially creating 

stored water to provide for local shortages.  

For the past two years the Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy District (UGRWCD) 

has been engaging in watershed management planning to address a future that will likely 

involve increased water demand with less available water and changing hydrologic 

patterns (including earlier spring runoff). A substantial component of the planning process 

has involved interviewing local stakeholders about their concerns about current and future 

water availability and use in the Upper Gunnison Basin. Initial conversations with 

irrigators demonstrated that water users had a multitude of questions about how Colorado 

Compact obligations might impact the Upper Gunnison Basin. Stakeholder questions have 

ranged from requesting an overview of how the Upper Gunnison may be impacted 

(including how obligations might be enforced) to more specific questions about funding 

voluntary demand management programs, insuring against unanticipated impacts from 

implementation of these programs, and questions about how fallowing or deficit irrigation 

would impact crop production, etc..  

To give context to demand management discussions at the UGRWCD Watershed 

Management Planning launch meeting John McClow gave a presentation about the 

 
1 In this memo, demand management is defined broadly to include demand management as discussed in 

the Upper Basin Drought Contingency Plan as well as other potential programs where participants 

voluntarily reduce consumptive use in exchange for compensation.  



 

 

Colorado River Compact and Colorado’s obligations therein.2 This presentation spurred 

additional stakeholder and UGRWCD Board discussion about how curtailment could impact 

the Upper Gunnison Basin. The UGRWCD Board has continued to have conversations and 

raise concerns about how demand management might be implemented within UGRWCD 

boundaries.3 In contrast, local water users have tended to bring up these topics when 

discussing agricultural “buy & dry”, short term leasing, and when talking about drought in 

watershed management planning meetings and individual interviews.  

In this memo we attempt to synthesize the opinions, questions, and concerns being 

discussed by stakeholders and Upper Gunnison water resource managers in the UGRWCD 

planning process. The discussion below has been informed by the following:  

- Concerns and opinions shared by stakeholders during the UGRWCD watershed 

management planning process.  

- Questions asked by Gunnison Basin roundtable members and meeting attendees 

during presentations relating to demand management.  

- Conversations during the UGRWCD Board meetings and Watershed Management 

Planning Committee meetings about how to meet local irrigation shortages during 

drought and how demand management could potentially be implemented locally if 

necessary to meet Compact obligations.  

- Discussions about demand management studies at Colorado Water Congress and 

the Gunnison Basin Roundtable.   

 

II. Local Sentiment about Demand Management and Alternative Transfer 

Mechanisms 

Key concerns shared by water users in the Upper Gunnison Basin inform local 

conversations about demand management. First is the notion that Western Slope 

agriculture has a target on its back as a potential source of water supplies for Front Range 

municipalities and to meet Colorado’s delivery obligations to Lake Powell. Second is the 

discussion of equity; this discussion includes the notion that if the Western Slope is 

required to conserve water to meet downstream obligations that the Front Range should 

be required to conserve an equal amount. Third is the general concern that demand 

management programs will harm neighboring water users. The purpose behind such 

programs is important as well; local water users also are more likely to consider 

participating in demand management programs designed to avoid curtailment and/or meet 

 
2 This meeting was held in Gunnison and attended by approximately 130 stakeholders.  
3 Some of the information included in this memo has been inspired by topics addressed publicly during 

Upper Gunnison River Water Conservancy Board meetings or Watershed Management Planning 

Committee meetings. However, information discussed during confidential executive sessions has been 

excluded from this memo.  



 

 

local shortages than they are if the program is designed to provide additional water 

supplies for lower basin states that “have grown beyond their means.” 

a. Western Slope Agriculture Has a Target on its Back   

After the release of the Colorado Water Plan in 2015, agricultural producers expressed 

serious concern that Colorado’s future deficit in water supplies will be satisfied almost 

exclusively by Western Slope irrigation water. Agricultural users are hyper-aware that buy 

and dry is the preferred method of water acquisition across the state; although ATMs are 

being promoted as a means to avoid drying up farming and ranching communities, there is 

concern that any use of ATMs will result in and irreversible and permanent transfer of 

water out of agriculture. Certain types of ATMs are preferred to others, as they are seen as 

more likely to preserve agriculture on the Western Slope. These preferences are discussed 

below in Section IV.  

b. Western Slope v. Front Range 

There is general agreement that any conservation effort should be met by reciprocal efforts 

from the Front Range. When demand management pilot project requests come from the 

Front Range, irrigators tend to respond that Denver and other Front Range municipalities 

need to first implement aggressive conservation and efficiency measures before requesting 

any additional water supply from the Western Slope. Many of our water users recall 

fighting trans-mountain diversion projects during the 1990s and view demand 

management as just another means to compensate for overuse of water on the Front 

Range.  During conversations about reducing our consumptive use, irrigators argue that 

Front Range municipalities should reduce municipal consumptive use through eliminating 

lawn irrigation and increased efficiency to meet growing demand before pursuing water 

from West Slope agriculture. To gather support for a basin-wide demand management 

scheme, the proponents would need to demonstrate equivalent efforts going on in the 

Front Range.    

c. Avoiding Harm to Neighbors 

Perhaps the most common concern expressed by Western Slope irrigators is whether they 

will be harmed by neighbors participating in ATMs and/or demand management programs. 

If my neighbor elects to fallow some of his acreage, will my adjacent operation be impacted 

by weeds, ditch carrying capacity, a loss of return flows? Although a “no harm” principle is 

easy to agree to in the abstract, it is far more difficult to achieve in implementation and is 

often remedied after the damage has been done.4 What about economies of scale- will 

 
4 When water users seek to change their water use, they are required to demonstrate that the change will 

not harm other water users. A significant part of this analysis is determining how the change of use will 



 

 

widespread participation in demand management programs increase the cost of doing 

business locally? Similarly, ranchers are concerned about potential impacts to their 

neighbors if they elect to participate in these efforts. Specific questions about localized 

impacts are discussed further below in Section III.  

d. Purpose Matters 

Most often ATMs are used to meet the demands of growing municipalities. However, they 

can also be used to meet local shortages (to other water users or for environmental flows), 

as a means to meet Colorado River Compact obligations, or to reduce the likelihood of a 

call. There is a sentiment that participating in demand management and ATMs is more 

valid if it is to avoid more drastic local impacts such as potential impacts from curtailment 

or from local water shortages from drought. Programs designed to provide water for 

downstream municipalities or for lower basin states (in excess of delivery obligations) 

were viewed less favorably.  

Irrigators are more open to consider participating in ATMs that would satisfy local needs. 

For instance, there are substantial irrigation dry-ups across the Upper Gunnison Basin. At 

select locations, ATMs could be used to transfer water to other agricultural users. Irrigators 

seem more willing to participate in alternative transfer mechanisms and demand 

management programs designed to meet Compact obligations or to protect against local 

irrigation shortages.   

UGRWCD water uses are more skeptical of proposed demand management that would be 

designed to provide additional water to downstream states. West Slope irrigators often 

express the sentiment that because the lower basin has overdeveloped, it must bear the 

brunt of reducing this water consumption to a sustainable amount. Irrigators appear less 

enthusiastic to participate in demand management programs designed to satisfied needs of 

lower basin states than programs designed to avoid curtailment by satisfying Colorado’s fill 

obligations.  

 

e. Concern over Permanence and Misappropriation of Water  

A necessary component of any demand management strategy is creating storage for 

banking conserved water. This storage could be local, to provide for local shortages, or in 

 
impact irrigation return flows. In some instances, implementing ATMs would also require that the action 

be assessed to assure that it does not harm other users. However, many externalities may not be included 

in the traditional concept of harm (such as noxious weed issues). Furthermore, the type of alternative 

transfer might not include these protections.  



 

 

Lake Powell or another CSP reservoir.5 This has raised concern amongst Western Slope 

agriculture that once water is deposited into an account, it may be misappropriated for 

purposes other than for fulfilling Compact obligations.  

There is a similar notion that once water is conserved for one purpose, it will demonstrate 

that the same source of water may be available at the right price for other uses- including 

for Front Range municipalities. For decades the Western Slope of Colorado has fought 

against trans-basin diversions that would deplete water that sustains our local fisheries 

and provides for Western Slope agriculture. There is a concern that if Western Slope 

irrigators participate in demand management- freeing up water that would otherwise be 

used consumptively for growing crops- that it would demonstrate that water is available 

for trans-basin diversions.   

Despite these concerns, key water policy players in the Gunnison Basin recognize that 

storage will be an essential component of buffering against curtailment. There is vocal 

support for creating sideboards to control development of the additional storage. Specific 

provisions restricting the creation of this pool to uses exclusive to meeting curtailment 

needs could alleviate some of the concern expressed by local stakeholders and 

stakeholders on the Western Slope. Irrigators also seem like they would be more amenable 

to storage that is local. For instance, in general discussions about potential storage options, 

Blue Mesa was preferable to CSP units farther down river.  

  

III. Questions about Implementation of ATMs and Demand Management  

There have been numerous presentations to the UGRWCD, Gunnison Basin Roundtable, and 

the Colorado Water Conservation Board about how demand management programs may be 

structured. These presentations routinely provide information on large-scale 

implementation concerns, such as where conserved waters will be stored and how 

conserved water may be shepherded across state boundaries. However, these 

presentations rarely offer answers about how these projects will impact the local irrigators 

that provide the conserved water. Studies conducted by CSU, the Nature Conservancy, and 

other universities have begun to offer initial responses to some of irrigators’ questions. 

Nonetheless, there remain substantive unanswered questions about the implementation, 

effectiveness, and risks of proposed demand management programs for the individual 

participating irrigators. Some of these questions are shared below.  

 
5 Un-equalized storage in Lake Powell has been discussed in several forums. 



 

 

a.  Impacts from fallowing or deficit irrigation  

As discussed above, irrigators are concerned that 

implementing ATMs will have unanticipated localized 

impacts on their neighbors and communities. The 

following questions and concerns were raised by 

Upper Gunnison Basin water users:  

- Shared ditches/flow. If my neighbor fallows, will 

there be enough head in the ditch to convey my 

water to my fields? 

- Loss of irrigation induced ground water charge 

can negatively impact adjoining fields as well as 

domestic wells/springs. How do you mitigate 

these impacts?  

- How will this project control weeds?  

- If too many of my neighbors participate in these 

programs, will there be less 

infrastructure/supporting systems for my 

operation? (economies of scale) 

- Can we adequately assess how fallowing or deficit irrigation will impact return 

flows?  

- How will different irrigation practices impact my crop yield once I return to 

irrigating in subsequent years? Is there a significant difference between a full season 

of fallowing and a partial season?  

- Measurement and verification?  

- Roots access to ground water in the valley bottoms (some ET without irrigation) 

- Is there enough water to have an impact? Volume of consumptive use in the Upper 

Gunnison is not immense. Conserved CU may be even less in low areas (roots access 

to ground water) where some ET continues w/out irrigation. 

 

b. Unforeseen impacts: who bears the burden?  

Any new demand management program would likely have unanticipated impacts on local 

operations. For instance, crop production may not rebound on a parcel as quickly as 

anticipated. Implementing conservation during drought years may put additional pressure 

on pastures and hay costs locally. While learning through pilot projects could help to 

reduce these risks, it will be impossible to eliminate risks completely. Who will bear the 

cost of unforeseen impacts? Would the irrigator bear the burden of reduced production, or 

would the entity sponsoring the demand management project? 

The Wilder Ranch 

The Wilder Ranch is a 

ranch/housing development. 

Pasture on the property is 

leased to a rancher who uses 

the land and associated water 

right for hay cropping. During 

development of the housing 

component of the Ranch the 

land was fallowed for one 

year. When Don Sabrowski 

resumed irrigation on the 

property it took several years 

for production to return to 

normal.  



 

 

Recommendation: Until there is more experience in implementing these projects, demand 

management programs should bear the risk of unanticipated impacts.  

c. Compensation  

In discussions about curtailment, local stakeholders had numerous questions about 

compensation and funding demand management programs. Stakeholders had the following 

questions:  

- What are municipalities willing to pay for my water?  

- What is California willing to pay for my water? Will compensation change depending 

on the customer? 

- What is the value of environmental benefits associated with irrigation (wildlife, 

springs, and bolstered baseflows from irrigation returns)?  

- Will the cost of leasing water be tied to commodity prices? If so, how? 

- How can we use ATMs to stabilize farm revenue?  

- Will the payment be enough to offset 2-3 years of reduced yield? 

- How will ag stay competitive if the alternative is to lease water for more revenue 

than what irrigating for hay/pasture can bring in. What side boards should be in 

place for a program?   

 

IV. Preferences 

In local discussions water users and water resource managers have shared certain 

preferences for different types of ATMs, or elements of design for proposed demand 

management programs. 

a. ATMs and Agreements that Keep Water in Agriculture are Preferable 

The term alternative transfer mechanism, or “ATM”, refers to a range of methods or 

strategies to transfer water from agriculture for a period of time (temporary or 

periodically).6 They are called “alternative” because they offer an alternative to the 

permanent agricultural buy and dry. These transfer mechanisms provide joint benefits to 

municipal and agricultural water users. Water that is conserved through these methods can 

be applied to other uses (i.e. municipal need or moving water to meet downstream 

obligations).  

Certain types of ATMs are received better than others by local irrigators. For instance, 3 out 

of 10-year leases, a form of interruptible water supply agreements, are received favorably 

as the water remains on the land and in agriculture for the majority of the duration of the 

 
6 For the purpose of this memo fallowing agreements are included in this category, whether or 

not the fallowing is accompanied by a lease. 



 

 

agreement. These leases have the additional advantage that they are approved by the State 

Engineer’s Office and allow the water right holder to exercise the lease without water court 

approval. Split season leasing has similar advantages, with the added benefit of allowing 

the irrigator to make the best of a first haying in dry seasons while turning off irrigation 

early later in the season instead of struggling for a mediocre second haying. However, the 

transaction costs of this type of agreement would be much higher and  the consumptive use 

savings may not be sufficient to justify these costs; thus, it’s less likely that irrigators would 

be interested in pursuing it.   

Rotational fallowing is also discussed favorably, as it allows the irrigator to continue some 

production while transferring the amount of water they save consumptively to another 

user. However, even while this might be a good fit due to operational considerations, there 

was some concerns about potentially high transaction costs. Deficit irrigation seemed to be 

the most feasible method to conserve water under current conditions. However, irrigators 

pointed out that with warming temperatures, crops will likely require additional ET to 

satisfy their growth needs. Finally, crop switching was generally unfavorable, as the 

primary crop grown in the Upper Gunnison is hay to feed cattle. Because our agricultural 

community is predominantly a ranching community, hay is a necessary part of the 

production chain.  

b. Water Users would prefer a Demand Management Program that is 

Designed and Implemented Locally  

One common concern discussed is that a demand management plan designed by the State 

of Colorado or another less local authority would overlook local concerns and 

considerations. When discussing what entity should design and implement a demand 

management program, Western Slope stakeholders prefer local implementation. Allowing 

local conservancy districts to create appropriate regulations for conserving water was 

largely preferred to statewide programs for water conservation.   

Recommendation: Allow local conservancy districts to develop rules for creating bankable, 

conserved water.  

V. Potential Recommendations  

 

a. Legislation to facilitate UGRWCD lease-fallowing pilot projects  

Given that there are substantial questions and concerns about how ATMs and demand 

management schemes will be implemented on the ground, there is a need for continued 

implementation of pilot projects across the state. Local irrigators expressed a strong 

preference for implementation of local pilot projects to better reflect soil conditions, 

climate, and local administration. The UGRWCD is willing to participate in targeted pilot 



 

 

projects to begin addressing some of the questions raised about demand management 

herein.  

Recommendation: Advocate for legislation that allows the UGRWCD to participate in pilot 

projects.  

b. Legislation to amend Colorado’s definition of beneficial use 

It could be useful to amend Colorado’s definition of a beneficial use to include water 

conserved to meet Colorado Compact obligations.  

Recommendation: Consider whether it could be useful to amend Colorado’s definition of 

beneficial water uses to include conserved water to meet Colorado Compact obligations.  

  

 

 

 

 



AGENDA ITEM 10
Miscellaneous Matters



 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:   UGRWCD Board Members  

FROM:  Sonja Chavez, General Manager 

DATE:  February 16, 2021  

SUBJECT:  District Payment of Expenses Process 

 

I. Non-Operating Expense Payment Process: District staff have historically waited to pay non-

operating expenses until they received Board approval at our regular monthly board meetings 

per their interpretation of the Board Financial and Investment Policy (explicitly Section 1.2.3 and 

1.2.4 below). 

II. Issue:  Because of the incorrect interpretation of the policy by staff and the timeline between 

invoice receipt, project management review of expenses, payment processing, and the next 

regular Board packet development, some non-operating expense are not getting paid in a timely 

manner. In addition, the timing between our last meeting of the year (e.g., December 9, 2020) 

and our next Regular Board meeting of the new year (e.g., January 23, 2021) meant some non-

operating expenses were getting paid late which is not an acceptable practice. 

 

Financial and Investment Policy (Banking and Funds Management) 
  

1.2 Operating Account. The District shall establish an operating account in a banking 

institution within the boundaries of the District that is an eligible public depository for 

payment of operating and non-operating expenses, as defined by the budget. 1.2.1 The 

officers of the District (President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer) and the General 

Manager shall be authorized signatories on the operating account.  

 

1.2.2 All disbursements from the operating account shall require two signatures. No 

authorized signatory may sign a check payable to herself or himself.  

 

1.2.3 Each month, the Office Manager, under the supervision of the General Manager, 

shall prepare an itemization of current operating expenses paid and non-operating 

expenses incurred for that month and deliver it to the Board of Directors in their monthly 

meeting packets.  

 

1.2.4 At each regular meeting, the Board shall review and approve the itemization of 

expenses for payment in such amounts as the Board deems appropriate.  

 

1.2.5 The Office Manager, under the supervision of the General Manager, is authorized 

to transfer sufficient funds to pay current expenses from one or more holding accounts to 

the operating account. 

 

 



 

 

III.  Clarification of Policy with Board  

 

A. Consistent with the above policy and interpretation by General Counsel, non-operating 

expenses already explicitly identified in our approved District Annual Non-Operating 

Expense Budget (e.g., Cloudseeding - $35,000), do not require approval for payment at the 

monthly Board meeting as they have already been authorized by the Board. 

 

B. Consistent with the above policy and interpretation by General Counsel, non-operating 

expenses that are not explicitly identified by line item in our Annual District Non-

Operating Expense Budget, require authorization from the Board for payment of expenses, 

unless the General Manager requests authorization from the Board (e.g., Transfer of 

$36,960 of WMP funds to the Outcalt No.2 & GTVA Single Point of Diversion Project; 

August 24, 2020, Regular Board Meeting). 

 

IV.  Additional Steps for Improving our Timeline for Payment of District Expenses 

 

A. The General Manager and District Accountant have established that every Friday the 

District will process invoices for payment (i.e. cut checks).  Establishing a regular practice 

allows staff to improve workflow and payment timeline. 

 

B. Staff would also like to ask local Directors who are check-signers to work on a monthly 

rotating basis to come to the District office once per week (e.g., Monday or Tuesday) to 

sign checks in order to help streamline our financial payment processes. 



/

Generated for Beverly Richards
on 02/12/2021

Reports

Monthly Energy Production Report

UGRWCD

Gunnison, CO
This report provides energy production for February.

Week Peak Power Energy Produced

02/01/2021 - 02/07/2021 5,870 W 158.90 kWh

02/08/2021 - 02/14/2021 5,864 W 95.99 kWh

02/15/2021 - 02/21/2021 0 W 0.00 kWh

02/22/2021 - 02/28/2021 0 W 0.00 kWh

February 2021 Total: 254.88 kWh

Previous Month Total: 380.07 kWh

Year to Date: 634.95 kWh

Lifetime Production: 15,077.26 kWh

Your Carbon Offset for this month: 388.0 lbs

You have offset the equivalent of: 5 Trees

Browser not supported

Use Microsoft Edge, Google Chrome, Firefox or Safari to access the fresh new look of MyEnlighten with the
exciting new features.

Ok, Got It















































AGENDA ITEM 11
Citizens Comments



AGENDA ITEM 12
Future Meetings



FUTURE MEETINGS/EVENTS

 WMP Coordinators Meeting - Feb 23, 2 PM
 Watershed Mgt. Planning Committee Meeting – March 8, 1:30 PM
 TLUG Meeting - March 10, 10 AM
 Gunnison Basin Roundtable Meeting – March 15, 4:00 PM

 UGRWCD Board Meeting – March 22; 5:30 PM

 WORLD WATER DAY - March 22 (and photo contest deadline)
 Executive Committee Meeting - April 5, Noon
 Watershed Mgt. Planning Committee Meeting - April 12
 Gunnison Basin Roundtable Meeting – April 19
 EARTH DAY - April 22
 Gunnison Community Clean-Up Day - April 24
 UGRWCD Board Meeting – April 26; 5:30 PM



AGENDA ITEM 13
Summary of Action Items



AGENDA ITEM 14
Adjournment


	Agenda - February 22, 2021
	Agenda Item 3 - Consent Agenda Items
	Approval of January 25, 2021 Minutes
	Consideration of Operating Expenses
	Consideration of Non-Operating Expenses

	Agenda Item 4 - Election of Board Secretary
	Board Vacancy Process
	Board Resolution 2021-02 of Commendation
	Resolution 2021-03 for Secretary's Check Signing Authorization

	Agenda Item 5 - Legal and Legislative Matters
	UGRWCD Comments re: Lease of Power Privilege at Taylor Park Dam

	Agenda Item 6 - Watershed and Forest Health
	Threats to Rocky Mountain Waters by Kenneth Hurst Williams, Lawrence Berkley National laboratory
	Values and Risks Discussion

	Agenda Item 7 - BREAK
	Agenda Item 8 - General Manager and Committee Reports
	Treasurer's Report
	General Manager's Report
	Upper Gunnison Board Committees
	Policy on Board Committees
	2021 Standing Committees

	Watershed Management Planning Committee Update
	February 8, 2021 WMP Committee Meeting Summary

	Grant Committee Update
	Education Committee Update
	2021 Action Plan

	Basin Water Supply Information February 2021
	Taylor Park Reservoir Update
	Colorado Monthly Snowpack Summary
	Cloudseeding Update

	Scientific Endeavors
	Long Lake Stakeholder Work Group Update
	Gunnison River Festival Update

	Agenda Item 9 - Demand Management Framework Discussion
	Development of Upper Gunnison District Statement of Understanding of Demand Management istrict Statement of Understanding of Demand Management Memo

	Agenda Item 10 - Miscellaneous Matters
	District Payment of Expense Process Memo
	Gunnison Energy Production Report - Solar Panels
	Newspaper Articles and Other Water News

	Agenda Item 11 - Citizens Comments
	Agenda Item 12 - Future Meetings
	Agenda Item 13 - Summary of Meeting Action Items
	Agenda Item 14 - Adjournment
	ADPEE60.tmp
	MEMORANDUM




